No. 23-cv-1046

District of Columbia Court of Appeals



Received 05/10/2024 05:06 PM Filed 05/10/2024 05:06 PM

BDO USA, P.C., et al., *Appellants*,

ν.

Eric Jia-Sobota, *et al.*, *Appellees*.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Action No. 2020 CA 2600 B Judge Neal E. Kravitz

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Michael B. Kimberly* (Bar No. 991549)
Julie H. McConnell (Bar No. 1032352)
Theodore E. Alexander (Bar No. 1600692)
McDermott Will & Emery LLP
500 North Capitol Street NW
Washington, D.C. 20001
(202) 756-8000

Counsel for Appellants

LIST OF INTERESTED INDIVIDUALS AND ENTITIES

Following is a complete list of parties and their counsel in the trial court.

INTRODUCTION

Defendant Eric Jia-Sobota is a sophisticated and wealthy businessperson who holds himself out as an expert in government-contract consulting. He is the founding principal of EverGlade Consulting, now known as defendant JSCO Enterprises. (For simplicity's sake, we refer to the defendants collectively as Jia-Sobota.)

When Jia-Sobota joined BDO as a partner in 2012, he signed the firm's partnership agreement containing a broadly written arbitration clause. It provides that "[a]ny controversy or dispute relating to this Agreement or the Partnership and its affairs . . . shall be considered and decided by an arbitration panel." App. 90a .

In early 2020, while still a partner at BDO, Jia-Sobota founded EverGlade. BDO alleges that Jia-Sobota attempted to (and did) lure away many BDO employees and attempted to (and did) steal BDO's clients, all in breach of his fiduciary duties and the plain terms of the partnership agreement. BDO sought a preliminary injunction from the D.C. Superior Court to protect its rights while an arbitral panel was set up—a form of relief expressly allowed by the arbitration clause itself.

In the time since, the parties have engaged in *four years* of litigation, all just to decide whether the dispute between BDO and Jia-Sobota should be compelled to arbitration. Jia-Sobota has argued strenuously against arbitration, raising two arguments: First, that BDO waived its right to arbitrate by seeking preliminary relief in court; and second, that the arbitration clause is unconscionable and thus unenforceable because the arbitral panel was to be comprised of BDO partners, who could not be impartial.

The trial court initially bought Jia-Sobota's first argument, holding BDO waived its right to arbitrate by coming to court for a PI. But this Court unanimously reversed on interlocutory appeal, remanding to the trial court to determine whether the arbitration clause was unconscionable.

On remand, BDO sought to avoid additional litigation on unconscionability by simply waiving that part of the arbitration agreement to which Jia-Sobota objected. That is to say, BDO agreed to arbitrate before the AAA rather than a panel of BDO partners. And Section 5 of the Federal Arbitration Act and New York law both allow a court to appoint a substitute arbitrator in just such circumstances. The court nonetheless refused.

The parties thus engaged in another six months of discovery and briefing on the unconscionability question. But around 5pm on the evening before the hearing on that motion, the trial court directed the parties to be prepared to address an issue that Jia-Sobota had never himself raised and that the parties had not briefed—whether the arbitration clause applied at all.

Two weeks later, the trial court issued an order denying BDO's motion to compel arbitration. The court declined to resolve the unconscionability question and instead held that the arbitration clause was inapplicable, despite that Jia-Sobota had not made that argument and the parties did not brief it. The court held in the alternative that the entire agreement to arbitrate was "destroyed" now that BDO—a professional services corporation as of July 2023—no longer has partners to appoint to an arbitral panel.

That decision was wrong in every possible respect. First, this case is plainly a "dispute relating to [the partnership] agreement or the partnership and its affairs" as to which the arbitration clause applies. The trial court's contrary decision spurned the ordinary rules of English that govern contract interpretation. Moreover, the trial court abused its discretion by introducing a new defense to arbitration that Jia-Sobota long ago waived. It also was wrong to conclude that the contract forecloses a substitute arbitrator under Section 5 of the FAA and N.Y. CPLR § 7504, which numerous other courts have applied in circumstances just like these.

Four years of litigation on the question of arbitration is enough. This Court should reverse and remand with instructions to compel this case to arbitration before the AAA, mooting any remaining arguments Jia-Sobota may have concerning unconscionability.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from orders denying BDO's motion to compel arbitration. Title 9, Section 16 of the United States Code permits immediate appeals from orders denying a request to compel arbitration. 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1)(C). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code §§ 11-721(a)(1) and 11-721(a)(2)(A). See Bank of America v. District of Columbia, 80 A.3d 650, 660-61 (D.C. 2013).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred in holding that the claims in this case are not a "dispute relating to [the BDO Partnership] Agreement or the Partnership and its affairs" that "shall be considered and decided by an arbitration panel."

- 2. Whether the trial court erred by not appointing a substitute arbitrator in lieu of the panel identified in the agreement, pursuant either to 9 U.S.C. § 5, or N.Y. CPLR § 7504, or BDO's waiver of its contractual rights.
- 3. After more than four years of wasteful litigation over the question of arbitration, whether this Court should remand with instructions to compel arbitration before a substitute arbitrator, once and for all.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

BDO filed this lawsuit on May 26, 2020, seeking preliminary relief in aid of arbitration. Jia-Sobota filed counterclaims.

The trial court denied preliminary relief and BDO's motion to compel arbitration of the counterclaims, holding that BDO had waived its right to arbitrate by seeking preliminary relief in court. Jia-Sobota sought an order denying the motion to compel on the alternative ground that the arbitration clause was unconscionable and thus unenforceable, but the court did not decide that question.

This Court unanimously reversed on interlocutory appeal and remanded for the trial court to resolve the question of unconscionability. *See BDO USA, LLP v. Jia-Sobota*, 283 A.3d 699 (D.C. 2022).

On remand, the trial court denied BDO's motion to substitute the AAA for the arbitration panel identified in the parties' agreement, which, if granted, would have mooted the unconscionability issue. The parties then re-briefed the question of whether the trial court should compel arbitration. The court denied the motion. In doing so, it again refused to resolve the unconscionability question and instead

decided the case on the basis of an issue never raised by the counter-plaintiffs. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Jia-Sobota joins BDO as a partner

Eric Jia-Sobota is an expert in government-contract consulting. He started his career in this field more than twenty years ago. App. 213a, Jia-Sobota Dep. Tr. (EJS Tr.) 16:13-18. He later joined the government contracting practice at Argy Wiltse & Robinson's (AWR), a successful regional accounting and consulting firm with hundreds of employees. Jia-Sobota was eventually made a minority partner at AWR, with one share of stock. App. 217a, EJS Tr. 45:11-19.

Soon thereafter, the named partners of AWR informed Jia-Sobota and the twenty-or-so other minority partners that the firm was entering negotiations to merge with BDO. Upon receiving this news, Jia-Sobota could have explored alternative employment opportunities but chose not to do so. App. 218a, EJS Tr. 48:18-22, 114:10-115:3.

AWR partners received initial drafts of the documents governing the merger several weeks before the merger took place. App. 251a. The documents flagged and incorporated by reference the arbitration clause from the BDO partnership agreement. App. 266a (§ 6.10); App. 90a (§ 14.7).

The AWR minority partners (including Jia-Sobota) were invited to elect two representatives to participate in the negotiations with BDO. App. 251a. They elected two such individuals, who committed to "distill your comments to use, as

appropriate, for proposed changes (or comment or question) to the supplemental agreements" in their discussions with "the Firm's legal counsel or BDO" concerning the merger. App. 251a. At the same time, AWR leadership noted in the weeks leading up to the merger that there was an "unprecedented number of calls that [our] staff are getting from recruiters" and that "[w]e are well aware from our own situation that there are numerous openings at public accounting firms right now." App. 317a.

The minority-partner representatives compiled feedback and shared proposed changes to the deal documents with representatives of BDO. Two of the changes were incorporated into the final agreement. App. 320a; App. 229a, EJS Tr. 104:5-106:6. Jia-Sobota did not once raise any questions about, or propose any changes to, any provision of any of the deal documents. App. 227a-228a, EJS Tr. 100:7-101:2; App. 233a, EJS Tr. 112:9-22.

Jia-Sobota signed the deal documents, including the BDO partnership agreement, and became a BDO partner effective November 1, 2012. App. 219a, EJS Tr. 58:13-19. Before, Jia-Sobota's income had been \$300,000 per year. App. 238a-239a, EJS Tr. 140:8-141:8. After the merger, his income doubled to \$595,000. App. 240a-241a, EJS Tr. 142:4-10, 143:18-144:22. While he had been one of the most junior partners at AWR prior to the merger, he leapfrogged nearly all senior AWR minority partners that joined BDO to become the second highest paid among them. App. 323a. In his last year at BDO, Jia-Sobota's earnings exceeded \$1.2 million. App. 325a. Over his eight-year tenure, he received more than \$6.5 million. App. 325a.

B. The partnership agreement requires arbitration

For partners wishing to separate from the firm, the BDO partnership agreement in force at the time included a six-month garden leave period, during which time the departing individual would effectively stop working but remain a partner of the firm, with fiduciary duties to the partnership. App. 79a (§ 11.2). The point of this provision was to make it more difficult for partners to spring a departure on firm leadership, which would have made it easier for them to steal employees and clients. The garden-leave provision was supplemented by an express non-compete clause that prohibited any departing partner, for a period of two years following a separation, from soliciting BDO clients and luring away BDO employees. App. 89a (§ 14.5).

The agreement also included an arbitration clause, which specified that "[a]ny controversy or dispute relating to this Agreement or the Partnership and its affairs or otherwise arising between a Partner and the Partnership . . . shall be resolved and disposed of in accordance with this section." App. 90a (§ 14.7). The clause subsequently provided that "[a]ny dispute or controversy" covered by the clause "shall be considered and decided by an arbitration panel" as thereafter defined. App. 90a. The arbitration clause appears in the section titled "Dealings Among Partners" and is in the same size, color, and type face as all of the other provisions in the partnership agreement. App. 90a.

While Jia-Sobota was a partner at BDO, the arbitration clause specified that the arbitration panel was to consist of five members—two from BDO's board of

directors selected by the board, and three other BDO "Partners" not on the board of directors and "mutually agreed to by the Board of Directors and the parties." App. 90a. At all relevant times, the agreement specified that no partner on the panel could be "involved in the controversy or dispute" or even reside in an office of a partner involved in the dispute. App. 90a.

BDO, which was formerly a limited liability partnership, adopted a new corporate structure effective July 1, 2023. From that date onward, it has operated as a closely-held professional services corporation, BDO USA, P.C. The owners of the company are now denominated "Principals" by the governing documents, not "Partners." Because BDO is no longer a partnership and no longer has "Partners" within the meaning of Section 14.7 of the contract between Jia-Sobota and BDO, it is no longer possible to constitute an arbitral panel of BDO "Partners" according to the terms of the original arbitration clause.

C. Jia-Sobota breaches his fiduciary duties

By 2019, Jia-Sobota was one of the most handsomely paid partners at BDO, and he was the national head of the firm's Industry Specialty Services Group (ISSG). BDO alleges that, when Jia-Sobota was not chosen for an expanded leadership role, he embarked on a months-long scheme to launch his own business by stealing the ISSG practice, including its employees and clients. App. 28a-31a (Compl. ¶¶ 1-7).

In early 2020, Jia-Sobota attempted (unsuccessfully) to withdraw from BDO without observing the six-month garden leave period. Shortly thereafter, he officially launched a competing firm. BDO alleges that he and his co-conspirators began

actively recruiting BDO employees, encouraging at least 11 members of the ISSG team to resign from BDO to join Jia-Sobota at his new firm. Several did so. App. 34a, 38a-41a (Compl. ¶¶ 30-32, 58-61). They also contacted BDO clients, informing them that Jia-Sobota was leaving BDO to start his own firm, falsely claiming that the ISSG practice would move wholesale to the new firm. App. 41a-42a (Compl. ¶¶ 62-68).

Jia-Sobota served as the chairman and CEO of his new firm for several years. More recently, however, he was suspended pending an investigation into BDO's allegations, in a parallel Delaware lawsuit, that Jia-Sobota had defamed and tortiously interfered with BDO's client relations. *See BDO USA, LLP v. EverGlade Global, Inc.*, 2023 WL 1371097 (Del. Super. Ct. Jan. 31, 2023). As part of that suit, the Delaware court found that Jia-Sobota and his firm had engaged in pervasive, bad-faith document destruction—indeed, "acts of spoliation [that were] among the worst one could imagine." *Id.* at *16. The court also observed that Jia-Sobota personally had "lie[d] in his prior deposition testimony," and it rejected his testimony across the board as "not credible." *Id.* at *10, *14. In other words, it found that Jia-Sobota is a liar and bad-faith litigant.

The Delaware court ultimately entered a default judgment in favor of BDO and sanctioned Jia-Sobota's firm more than \$5 million for its "extreme" litigation misconduct. *See BDO USA, LLP v. JSCo Enterprises, Inc.*, 2023 WL 5191146 (Del. Super. Ct. Aug. 8, 2023). In the time since, Jia-Sobota's consulting firm has filed for bankruptcy. *See In re JSCo Enterprises, Inc.*, No. 23-42151 (Bankr. E.D. Tex.).

D. The trial court refuses to compel arbitration

1. BDO filed this litigation in mid-2020, seeking preliminary injunctive relief in aid of arbitration (App. 1a), as permitted by the arbitration clause then contained in BDO's partnership agreement (App. 90a (§ 14.7)). Wary that Jia-Sobota was immediately and aggressively attempting to steal BDO's clients and employees, BDO filed a verified amended complaint and a motion for a temporary restraining order in the D.C. Superior Court. App. 3a. While the motion for a TRO was still pending, BDO filed a demand for arbitration, commencing the process for resolving its claims against Jia-Sobota pursuant to Section 14.7 of the partnership agreement. App. 3a. A few days later, Jia-Sobota filed an answer and six counterclaims. App. 107a.

The trial court denied BDO's motion to compel arbitration and Jia-Sobota's cross-motion to stay arbitration. App. 12a. The court held that "the totality of the circumstances of [BDO's] conduct shows that [BDO] waived the right to arbitrate." *Id.* Following further motions practice, the trial court held that BDO could not proceed with arbitration of its own claims, either. *Id.*

2. This Court unanimously reversed on interlocutory appeal. *See BDO USA*, *LLP v. Jia-Sobota*, 283 A.3d 699 (D.C. 2022). The Court held that BDO had not waived its right to arbitrate, finding that "the arbitration agreement between BDO and Jia-Sobota allowed either party to pursue an injunction without waiving its arbitration rights," and "BDO took [no] action inconsistent with its intent to arbitrate its underlying claims" in its pursuit of such relief. *Id.* at 701.

The Court vacated the Superior Court's order but elected "not to resolve the question of [the] enforceability" of the arbitration agreement. *Id.* at 710. The Court instead remanded for the trial court to determine whether the arbitration clause in Jia-Sobota's partnership agreement is unconscionable and thus unenforceable in light of the fact that it provided that BDO partners serve as arbitrators. *Id.*

3. On remand, BDO moved the trial court to appoint AAA as arbitrator. BDO argued that the method for selecting arbitrators had failed because Jia-Sobota had refused for longer than two years to participate in the process. App. 22a. BDO also argued that having an objectively neutral, court-appointed arbitrator such as the AAA would moot any unconscionability objections associated with BDO partners serving as arbitrators. App. 24a.

The trial court denied BDO's motion. App. 202a. It held that it "lack[ed] authority to order the parties to arbitration with AAA" because this Court had remanded for it to decide whether the arbitration clause itself was unconscionable. App. 203a.

The case proceeded to discovery on the question of unconscionability, which included document discovery and depositions. During the discovery period, BDO reorganized its corporate structure from a partnership to a closely held corporation.

Upon the conclusion of discovery, BDO again moved the court to compel arbitration before the AAA. App. 24a. BDO argued that there was no evidence of either procedural or substantive unconscionability related to the arbitration clause; Jia-Sobota was a sophisticated party who had agreed to arbitrate, and the clause thus

had to be enforced according to its terms. *Id*. But BDO also argued that the question of substantive unconscionability was by then moot because there no longer are any BDO partners who can sit as arbitrators. *Id*. BDO argued that under these circumstances, the court is required to appoint an alternative arbitrator, proposing the AAA. *Id*.

After briefing on the question of unconscionability and the substitution of the AAA, the Superior Court scheduled a hearing for November 7, 2023, at 11:00am. *Id.* At 4:57pm on November 6, 2023—the evening before the hearing—Judge Kravitz's clerk emailed the parties directing them to be prepared to address a new, unbriefed defense to arbitration that Jia-Sobota himself had never before raised: whether the arbitration clause applies to former partners as well as current partners. App. 449a. This new contract defense was the principal focus of the hearing.

Soon after the hearing, the trial court entered an order denying the motion to compel arbitration. App. 522a. The court held that (1) "the arbitration provision in the partnership agreement does not apply to disputes between BDO and its former partners," even when those disputes relate to the agreement or the partnership and its affairs; and (2) "even if the arbitration provision did apply to such disputes, the court could not substitute AAA for the panel of current BDO partners specified in the partnership agreement." App. 526a-527a. The court did not decide the "ultimate question of unconscionability," which is the one question that this Court had directed the trial court to answer. App. 526a.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The arbitration clause here covers any controversy or dispute relating to the partnership agreement or the partnership and its affairs. That expansive language plainly covers alleged breaches of the partnership agreement and of the fiduciary duties owed under the law of partnership. The trial courts' contrary opinion rewrote the contract, turning an "or" into an "and" and adding limits that did not appear in the contract. It cannot be sustained.

Moreover, Jia-Sobota waived any argument concerning the applicability of the arbitration clause, and the district court abused its discretion by inserting the issue into the case *sua sponte* at the eleventh hour. In civil cases especially, parties represented by competent counsel are assumed to know what is best for them and are responsible for advancing the arguments entitling them to relief. Courts, for their parts, are neutral arbiters of the legal questions presented by the parties before them. They are not to perform takeovers of cases, adding issues that they would prefer to see litigated.

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