#### No. 23-cv-1046

# District of Columbia Court of Appeals

Clerk of the Court Received 06/07/2024 05:34 PM Resubmitted 06/10/2024 09:06 AM Resubmitted 06/10/2024 12:43 PM Filed 06/10/2024 12:43 PM

#### BDO USA, LLP,

Plaintiff/Counter-Defendant-Appellant,

 $-\nu$ . -

ERIC JIA-SOBOTA and JSCo Enterprises, Inc.,

Defendants/Counter-Plaintiffs-Appellees,

 $-\nu$ . -

# BDO PUBLIC SECTOR LLC and WAYNE BERSON,

Counter-Defendants-Appellants.

On Appeal from Orders of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Action No. 2020 CA 2600 B Judge Neal E. Kravitz

#### APPELLEES' RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Tiffany Joseph Goodson
Bar No. 481878
HKM Employment Attorneys LLP

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

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Flowing from the maxim *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, this implication under New York law is in accordance with modern interpretation of contracts. *See generally* Glen Banks, *New York Contract Law* § 10.13 [West's NY Prac Series 2006]. The Latin term has a literal meaning of "the expression of one thing is the exclusion of the other."

evidence that the arbitration provision is not intended to apply" to such parties. App. 528a.<sup>4</sup>

Moreover, a further reading into Section 14.7 conclusively demonstrates that BDO did not intend the arbitration provision to apply to former partners, and BDO's omission of former partners was clearly no mistake. The remaining portions of Section 14.7 refer only to "partners" on several occasions where former partners could have easily been inserted.

The members of the arbitration panel shall be mutually agreed to by the Board of Directors and the parties to the controversy or dispute, provided that no member of the panel shall be from an office in which any **complaining Partner** was located at the time of filing of the complaint... The arbitration panel shall be selected as soon as possible after notice to the Partnership by any Partner that such controversy or dispute exists. The conduct of the arbitration shall be in accordance with such procedure as the Board of Directors adopts and communication to the Partners. \*\*\* The determination of such arbitration panel shall be conclusive and binding on all the Partners...."

App. 304a (§ 14.7). The plain language of Section 14.7 uses only "Partner" and completely belies BDO's reading of the provision to incorporate former partners. If BDO meant the scope of arbitrable issues to include former partners, then certainly BDO would have referred to them somewhere (anywhere) in the section. But BDO

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "BDO . . . thus knew full well how to specify those parts of the agreement that were intended to apply to former partners. Provisions like Section 14.7 that refer only to partners therefore should be understood as intended to apply only to current partners, and not to former partners." App. 528a (Opinion of the Superior Court for the District of Columbia).

did not. This Court should read the plain text of Section 14.7 and agree with the lower court that Section 14.7 does not apply to former partners.

BDO next contends the trial court's reading too easily "circumvents" the provision, a notion that is swiftly debunked by the absence of the term "former partner" from the entire provision. Appellant's Br. 21. However, in this pitch, BDO derides the plain reading interpretation of Section 14.7, and notes that arbitration would be "required only if the complaining or defending partner remains a partner." *Id.* Ironically, this gripe with the trial court's finding – one that deployed context and ordinary meaning – is merely a qualm with its own drafting decisions. Nonetheless, the notion of "circumvention" is easily extinguished by "discover[ing] the facts of [the] particular situation and . . . assess[ing] them in terms of the purposes . . . embodied in the' agreement." *United States v. Volvo Powertrain Corp.*, 854 F. Supp. 2d 60, 68 (D.D.C. 2012) (quoting Duncan Kennedy, Form and Substance in Private Law Adjudication, 89 Harv. L. Rev. 1685, 1689 (1976)). In fact, when a decree clearly expresses what it "meant to accomplish," circumvention would come only from substituting the court's own judgment in its place. *Id.* at 69. This Court should abstain from circumventing the clear omission of excluding former partners and affirm the trial court's finding that Section 14.7 applies only to current partners.

# 3. The Trial Court Gave Proper Meaning to the Provision, Correctly Refuting BDO's Attempt to Ascribe Alternative Applications.

Because the arbitration provision does not include former partners, BDO then asks this Court to read the scope of the arbitration to cover disputes that could involve former partners. The applicable section states: "Any controversy or dispute relating to this Agreement or the Partnership and its affairs or otherwise arising between a Partner and the Partnership . . . "App. 306a (§14.7) (emphasis added). BDO contends the use of the words "or otherwise" in Section 14.7 disjoins the section into two phrases, creating alternative applications on either side of separation. Appellant's Br. 14-21. An adoption of BDO's construction would invoke the existence of two "categories" of arbitrable disputes. In fact, BDO argues the language appearing before the phrase "or otherwise" sweeps in "any and every dispute pertaining in any way" to the Partnership Agreement or affairs. Id. at 15. This stance was not convincing to the lower court. Regarding BDO's assertion of two disjunctive phrases with the first "thus [applying] to a broader set of parties than the second," the lower court explicated stated that it "is not persuaded." App. 529a. Indeed, the phrase "arising between a Partner and the Partnership" is to be applied to the type of arbitrable dispute as set forth in the entire sentence. This Court should similarly refuse acceptance of BDO's "disjunctive" argument, which rests upon a misapplication of New York law and general literary construction.

# i. The Absence of a Comma Forecloses Any Argument of "Two-Prongs" in Section 14.7.

By attesting that an "independent clause" is created by the conjunctive use of "or" in "or otherwise arising between a Partner and the Partnership," BDO ignores a "fundamental grammar rule" when the term "or" is used multiple times in a sentence. *In re China Fishery Grp. Ltd.*, 2023 WL 2435701, at \*11 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Mar. 8, 2023). That rule, as omitted from BDO's relevant discussion, suggests "a comma must be placed before a conjunction introducing an independent clause." *Id.* This is particularly true because three conjunctions (all "or") appear in the same sentence. The insertion of a comma before "or otherwise" would have clearly indicated the beginning of a new clause with the usage of serial conjunctions (here, "or"). <sup>5</sup> In accompaniment with this general rule is the "corollary" approach to the issue: a court should refrain from reading a "contractual provision in a manner that renders the *absence* of a comma grammatically incorrect." *Id.* <sup>6</sup> BDO makes a similar

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In fact, the Partnership Agreement utilizes the serial-type comma in several other sections to introduce independent clauses, notably: App. 291a (§ 8.4); App. 292a (§ 9.4); App. 308a (§ 14.14(a)); App. 304a (§ 14.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In *China Fishery Grp. Ltd.*, the appellants argued for the creation of a definitional bifurcation into "two 'independent clauses' by the conjunction 'or." *Id.* at 11. The court disagreed: "instead, the text should be analyzed as one long relative clause . . . that modifies the subjects of the overarching relative clause, 'order or judgment." *Id.* 

mistake here, arguing to this Court for the imposition of a comma into a provision that it drafted and has utilized for years.<sup>7</sup>

It follows then, that for BDO's proposed interpretation of Section 14.7 to gain acceptance, the Court must go beyond the realms of ordinary rules of construction and literary meaning. It is true, however, as BDO purportedly contends, that "when coordinating conjunctions such as either/or are utilized, the alternative sentence elements are considered of equal significance." *Van Patten v. LaPorta*, 148 A.D.2d 858, 860 (N.Y. App. Div. 1989). Conveniently omitted from BDO's "category" argument is the importance of "the placement of a comma before the disjunctive 'or' indicates an intent to discriminate between the various parts of the sentence." *Id.* 

The approach to literary construction undertaken by BDO requires this Court to ignore basic tenets of sentence structure and the canon against surplusage.<sup>8</sup> First, it is hardly a novel concept that "the use of a comma separates a series of words, phrases, or items in a list." *People v. Alford*, 2024 WL 1868901, at \*3 (N.Y. Sup.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Where appellants in *China Fishery Grp. Ltd.*, like BDO here, argued the text at issue was "heavily negotiated in a process that lasted more than half a decade," the lower court found it "merely bolsters [respondent's] argument that the conjunction "or" does not introduce a second independent clause within the definition." *In re China Fishery Grp. Ltd.*, 2023 WL 2435701, at \*11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "We have recognized that meaning and effect should be given to every word of a statute. 'Words are not to be rejected as superfluous where it is practicable to give each a distinct and separate meaning." *Leader v. Maroney, Ponzini & Spencer*, 761 N.E.2d 1018, 1024 (N.Y. 2001) (quoting *Cohen v. Lord, Day & Lord*, 550 N.E.2d 410, 412 (N.Y. 1989)).

Ct. Apr. 19, 2024). Further, while the "application of proper comma usage" suggests an intent to "distinguish," it is also understood that "the absence" thereof "indicates that those terms are merely interchangeable." *Id.* As such, the "two-pronged" reading suggested by BDO runs afoul of the sensical interpretation of using a comma to demarcate the separateness of the clauses. Appellant's Br. 16. Instead, upon noting the absence of a comma, this Court should accord full meaning to each word in the provision and read the initial phrase of the sentence "in light of – and as limited by - the second." App. 530a.

Likewise, because no comma was used by BDO to expressly indicate separation, this Court could just as easily read the "and" to be the conjunction of the two clauses, requiring a conjunctive test. Under this reading, the dispute must relate to "[1] this Agreement or the Partnership and [2] its affairs or otherwise arising between a Partner and the Partnership." This interpretation would also bring this Court to the same correct conclusion as the trial court: that the dispute must arise between a Partner and the Partnership. Indeed, any reading of the provision that would require a current partner, and not a former partner, to arbitrate before three partners of BDO seems more reasonable in that BDO would want to keep its partner dispute in house and confidential.

### ii. The Words "Or" And "Otherwise" Merely Effect Limitation on the Scope of Section 14.7's Application.

When combined, the words "or" and "otherwise" fail to materially alter the outlook of Section 14.7, and certainly do not act as "ones of enlargement," as BDO suggests. Appellant's Br. 15. Instead, the terms are linked together to establish the intended scope, and do not represent an inclusion of "every conceivable situation outside those stated." Id. at 16. In fact, where a provision or statute "places the word 'otherwise' just after the examples" or listed applications, it is surely for the purposes of covering only others that are "similar" to those listed. Begay v. United States, 553 U.S. 137, 144 (2008). Notably in Begay, the Court considered whether the appearance of "otherwise" in a criminal statute required other covered crimes to be at least highly "similar" to those listed. Id. The Court found that it did. The losing argument, put forth by the Government, asserted the specific references to statutory crimes "do not limit the scope of the clause," to which the Court responded: "we cannot agree." Id.9 Here, as applied, the correct conclusion is to expand the clause only to other similar circumstances that denote disputes "between a Partner and the Partnership."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See e.g., Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591, 608 (2015): The "residual clause" in "violent felony" statutory definition was narrowed and proscribed according to listed offenses. *Id.* at 606. "The specific crimes listed in § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii) . . . offer a "baseline against which to measure the degree of risk" a crime must present to fall within that clause. *Id.* (Thomas, J., concurring).

The relevant discussion here is whether the arbitration provision applies to Jia-Sobota, a former partner. When proper weight is given to the language of Section 14.7 and the entirety of the Partnership Agreement, it does not. The implications of this accurate conclusion exclude from arbitrability "any and all disputes between BDO and former partners," as BDO correctly points out. Appellant's Br. 21. BDO asks this Court to disjoin the meaning of Section 14.7 for its convenience to amend drafting which unequivocally results in a more narrowly tailored arbitration provision. To achieve this, BDO looks past the meaning of the word "otherwise" and the express references to "Partner" and "the Partnership." App. 306a. Additionally, BDO fails to recognize that "Partner" is referenced four more times later in the same section where BDO could have easily added the phrase "former partners," but chose not to. Instead, as the trial court correctly noted, the first phrase "provides examples of the main types of disputes" to be arbitrated, while the latter "clarifies" the alsocovered claims of less commonality. App. 531a.<sup>10</sup> Thus, the trial court correctly interpreted the limited scope in a manner consistent with the full reading of Section 14.7's language only referring to "Partners."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See also United States v. Sandlin, 575 F. Supp. 3d 16, 25 (D.D.C. 2021) (When the clause at issue appears "in the same provision, not a separate subsection," the "otherwise' clause forms part" of the definition itself) (discussing the clause at issue in *Begay*.).

# C. The Trial Court Was Within Its Rights to Request Arguments on the Facts Underlying This Action's Central Issue.

BDO also takes issue with the trial court's correspondence to the parties on November 6, 2023 – prior to November 7 oral arguments – requesting discussion of Section 14.7's pertinence to former partners. Appellant's Br. 33; App. 449a. Specifically, BDO argues the court "sua sponte directed the parties" to address a "long ago" waived issue which was "never briefed by the parties." Appellant's Br. 22. However, first, this is a patent misstatement of fact: Appellees raised and briefed the issue that the Partnership Agreement did not apply to Jia-Sobota, who was a former partner, in its procedural unconscionability arguments in the lower court, and - as BDO admits - the parties argued the matter on November 7. Second, even if Appellees' briefing was insufficient to raise the issue, BDO's misapprehends the principle of party presentation. Indeed, in cherry-picking cases with grandiose statements to support its contentions of the trial court's purported "commandeering," BDO loses sight of the central question at issue in this case: whether the parties had an agreement to arbitrate.

1. <u>Appellees Raised the Issue of Whether the Arbitration Provision</u>
<u>Applied to Jia-Sobota, a Former Partner, in Their Briefing to the Trial Court.</u>

In arguing that Appellees waived the argument that the arbitration provision did not apply to former partners, including specifically Jia-Sobota, BDO fails to carefully read Appellees' briefs to the trial court below. BDO asserts that the "trial

court manifestly abused its discretion by resolving the long running motion to compel arbitration on the basis of a contract-interpretation defense that Jia-Sobota had not raised and the parties did not brief." Appellant's Br. 31. However, Appellees' October 6, 2023 Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Plaintiff BDO USA, P.C.'s Motion to Compel Arbitration Before the American Arbitration Association states succinctly, "to apply the arbitration provision to Jia-Sobota, a former BDO partner, the arbitration provision itself must be read in conjunction with other provisions that define 'Partner' to include former partners." (Def.'s Mem. Opp. to Mot. Compel (Oct. 6, 2023). Appellees went on to focus on this as one aspect of the procedural unconscionability of the arbitration provision itself. As such, BDO's argument that this issue was not raised in the briefing to the trial court prior to its November 6 directive is factually incorrect. 12

2. The Legal Theory of Whether the Arbitration Provision Applied to Former Partners Was Presented and Argued in the Trial Court.

Even if BDO were correct (it is not) that Appellees had failed to raise the issue of Jia-Sobota's status as a former partner to the trial court below (they did not), the trial court's inquiry into the scope and application of the arbitration provision was not limited to the parties' briefs. *See Kamen v. Kemper Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 500 U.S.

This memorandum was not included in the Appendix as it is "Excluded Material" under D.C. Ct. App. Rule 30(a)(2).

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